IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-00382

VERA HARRIS		APPELLANT
VS.	ADDN/ EM AT	A DDELL EEGG
VONDA G. REEVES D.	ARBY, ET AL.	APPELLEES
APPEAL FROM	THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNT FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT	Y MISSISSIPPI,
	BRIEF FOR APPELLANT	
	ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED	

Submitted by:

Robert V. Greenlee
Shane F. Langston
Langston & Langston, PLLC
416 East Amite Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: (601) 969 – 1356
Facsimile: (601) 968 – 3866

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-00382

VERA HARRIS

APPELLANT

VS.

VONDA G. REEVES DARBY, ET AL.

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Does the Mississippi Saving Statute, Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69, have any application to a pending original action or is it a remedial statute designed to allow a plaintiff to commence a new action after her original action has been dismissed for a matter of form? This issue is dispositive.
- 2. Did the lower court commit legal error when it held that party substitution pursuant to Rule 25 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure is the commencement of a new action, within the meaning of the Mississippi Saving Statute, Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69, rather than a continuation of the prior action?
- 3. Did the lower court commit legal error when it held that the survivability of a personal action is governed by the Mississippi Saving Statute, Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69, and not the Mississippi Survival Statute, Miss. Code Ann. §91-7-237?
- 4. Did the lower court commit legal error it held that the Mississippi Saving Statute, Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69, governs the substitution of parties, rather than Rule 25 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure?
- 5. Did Defendants waive their objections to any alleged time-bar by actively participating in the litigation process of this action for over five months after the action was allegedly "dismissed by operation of law?"

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The lower court incorrectly held that the Mississippi Saving Statute, Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69 ("Saving Statute"), terminated Plaintiffs' pending action "by operation of law" at the instant of her death and imposed a one-year statute of limitations governing the substitution of

her estate as a party plaintiff. In reaching its incorrect decision, the lower court ignored relevant statutory authority and the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure which stand in direct contravention to its analysis and decision. Plaintiffs Vera Harris, individually and on behalf of her mother Lula P. Green, appeal the lower court's dismissal of their civil action, with prejudice, based on the erroneous ruling that Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69 extinguished their civil action "by operation of law" at the instant of Plaintiff Lula P. Green's death, and required Plaintiffs to substitute the Estate of Lula P. Green as a party plaintiff within one year from death. The lower court dismissed Plaintiffs' civil action with prejudice because their motion to substitute parties was filed more than one year after Lula Green's death.

It is <u>undisputed</u> that Defendants never suggested the death of Lula Green upon the record <u>and</u> that Plaintiffs opened the Estate of Lula P. Green <u>prior to</u> Defendants' filing their motion to dismiss. (P. R. E. tab 3, R. at 176; tab 5, R. at 75)¹ The lower court's decision is fraught with legal error and must be reversed because the Saving Statute has no application whatsoever to this case, a Rule 25 party substitution is not the commencement of a new action, Miss. Code Ann. §91-7-237 directly mandates that Plaintiffs' action was not extinguished by her death and the substitution of parties is governed by Rule 25.

In the alternative, Plaintiffs assert that Defendants waived their objections to any alleged time-bar by actively litigating the merits of Plaintiffs' civil action for over five months after the alleged time-bar occurred. During this five month period, Defendants conducted written discovery, participated in numerous depositions, engaged in extensive motion practice and entered into several agreed orders relating to scheduling, discovery and setting the case for trial.

¹ All citations to Plaintiffs/Appellants' record excerpts will be made as (P.R.E), followed by the tab number, and the page number from the record i.e. (P.R.E. tab , R. at).

In fact, Defendants filed the subject Motion to Dismiss less than 60 days from trial and only after the close of discovery and final supplementation of expert opinions.²

B. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues and Disposition in the Court Below.³

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint on August 11, 2005, in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. (P.R.E. tab 6, R. at 6).⁴ In their Complaint, Plaintiffs alleged that Lula P. Green suffered serious and life-threatening injuries when her colon was ruptured during the performance of a medically unnecessary and unindicated colonoscopy conducted by Defendants. (P.R.E. tab 6, R. at 6). Plaintiff Vera Harris is the daughter of Lula P. Green and Executrix of the Estate of Lula P. Green.⁵ Plaintiff Vera Harris' claim is derivative of Lula P. Green's claim and because this civil action was dismissed based on alleged defenses against Plaintiff Lula P. Green's cause of action, this Brief is devoted to the dismissal of Lula P. Green's claim.⁶

It is <u>undisputed</u> that Plaintiffs' Complaint was timely filed pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(2) and that Lula P. Green was alive at the time of filing. (P.R.E. tab 3, R. at 175; tab 5, R. at 75). On February 9, 2006, Plaintiff Lula P. Green died as a result of end stage renal disease. (R. at 51). No allegations of wrongful death are alleged by Plaintiffs and it is

² This case was heavily litigated in preparation of trial and on March 27, 2007, the lower court entered an Order setting this matter for jury trial on the July 9, 2007, trial docket. (S.R. at 159). On April 13, 2007, due to a court conflict, the July 9, 2007, trial date was continued until September 4, 2007, by agreed Order. (S.R. at 179). After discovery was completed, both parties submitted proposed pre-trial orders to the lower court and prepared for trial.

³ All references to the Record will be cited as (R. at __), to the Supplemental Record as (S.R. at __).

⁴ Plaintiffs' Complaint was filed against Vonda G. Reeves Darby and Gastrointestinal Associates Endoscopy Center, LLC, and John Does 1-10 ("Defendants"). (P.R.E. tab 6, R. at 6).

⁵ Vera Harris incurred monetary expense and other damage as her mother's primary caregiver post-injury.

⁶ References to "Plaintiffs" shall include both Vera Harris and Lula P. Green while a reference to "Plaintiff" will indicate Lula P. Green only, unless stated otherwise.

<u>undisputed</u> that Lula P. Green's action is a "personal action" which survived to her estate pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §91-7-233 and §91-7-237 (P.R.E. tab 3, R. at 175-176).

The Estate of Lula P. Green was opened in the Chancery Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District, on July 16, 2007, and Plaintiff Vera Harris was appointed Executrix. (P.R.E. tab 4, R. at 36). Plaintiffs then filed their motion to substitute parties on July 20, 2007. (P.R.E. tab 4, R. at 32). It is <u>undisputed</u> that the death of Lula P. Green was never suggested upon the record and that the 90-day time period for substitution of parties, pursuant to Rule 25, never began to run. (P.R.E. tab 3, R. at 176 – 177; tab 5, R. at 75). On July 20, 2007, the same day Plaintiffs filed their motion to substitute parties, Defendants filed the subject motion to dismiss. (R. at 29).

Defendants' motion was predicated on the argument Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-55 time-barred Plaintiffs from substituting the Estate of Lula P. Green. (R. at 38). On July 30, 2007, Plaintiffs filed their Response to Defendants' Motion. (R. at 71). In their Response, Plaintiffs vigorously opposed Defendants' position given that Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-55, the Estate Savings Statute, allows a decedent's estate representative to "commence" an action within the specified time period and, because Plaintiff's action had already been timely commenced, Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-55 was inapplicable to her action. (R. at 71). In addition to a response, Plaintiffs also filed an itemization of undisputed facts to which the Defendants' never responded. (P.R.E. tab 5, R. at 75 - 77). The facts stated therein are undisputed.

Thereafter, Defendants filed a reply to Plaintiffs' response. (R. at 80). In their Reply, Defendants changed course and pointed to Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69, rather than Miss. Code

⁷ After contacting Defendants' counsel via telephone in an effort to obtain an agreed order for substitution of parties, Plaintiffs' counsel was informed that no such agreement was possible.

⁸ Defendants later changed their position to state that Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69, rather than Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-55, time-barred Plaintiffs from substituting parties. The lower court's decision was based on Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69 and not Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-55.

Ann. §15-1-55, as its new authority for the position that Plaintiffs were time-barred from substituting parties. (R. at 80). In their Reply, Defendants asserted that the one-year saving provision of Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69 began to run at the instant of Lula P. Green's death and therefore, her estate had to be substituted as a party within one year from death. (R. at 81). Defendants further argued that since Lula P. Green's estate was not substituted before February 10, 2007, that Plaintiffs were time-barred from substituting the Estate of Lula P. Green as a party plaintiff. (R. at 81).

Given Defendants' change of position, Plaintiffs filed a rebuttal to Defendants' reply on August 13, 2007. (R. at 92). In their rebuttal, Plaintiffs urged the lower court to deny Defendants' motion and pointed the court to the flaw in Defendants' logic - in Mississippi, personal actions are not "dismissed by operation of law" upon the death of a party. Instead, Lula P. Green's pending action survived to her estate under Miss. Code Ann. §91-7-237 and her estate was authorized to prosecute the pending action pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §91-7-233. (R. at 92).9

The lower court advised the parties that it would not entertain oral argument on the issues presented in the subject appeal.¹⁰ Thereafter, on August 24, 2007, the lower court transmitted a letter, via facsimile, indicating that the court intended to grant Defendants' motion to dismiss and

⁹ On August 14, 2007, Defendants filed a motion to strike Plaintiffs' rebuttal, stating that "Uniform Circuit Court Rule 4.03 does not contemplate rebuttal responses." (R. at 97). Plaintiffs filed their response to Defendants' motion to strike on August 16, 2007, again urging the lower court to deny Defendants' motion. (R. at 164). On August 16, 2007, Defendants filed a rebuttal to Plaintiffs' response to Defendants' motion to strike. (R. at 168).

¹⁰ The lower court conducted a hearing on August 21, 2007, on a separate motion filed by the Defendants but re-advised the parties during that hearing, which was conducted in chambers, that no oral argument would be entertained on the motion and issues that are the subject of this appeal. No explanation was ever given regarding the lower court's decision to disallow oral argument.

directed Defendants to submit a proposed memorandum and final judgment.¹¹ On September 12, 2007, the lower court entered a final judgment dismissing Plaintiffs' action with prejudice and a memorandum opinion granting Defendants' motion to dismiss, which was treated as a motion for summary judgment. (P.R.E.; tab 2, R. at 179; tab 3, R. at 173 – 178). On October 8, 2007, Plaintiffs filed their notice of appeal. (R. at 180).

III.STANDARD OF REVIEW

The lower court erroneously granted summary judgment in favor of Defendants and incorrectly ruled that Plaintiffs' original action was time-barred, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69, from substituting the Estate of Lula P. Green as a party plaintiff. (P.R.E. tab 2, R. at 179). This Court employs a de novo standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of summary judgment and the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. *Jackpot Mississippi Riverboat, Inc. v. Smith*, 874 So.2d 959, 960 (Miss. 2004); *McCullough v. Cook*, 679 So.2d 627, 630 (Miss. 1996). Further, the "application of a statute of limitations is a question of law." *Sarris v. Smith*, 782 So.2d 721, 723 (Miss. 2001). This Court applies a de novo standard of review when deciding issues of law. *Wayne Gen. Hosp. v. Hayes*, 868 So.2d 997, 1000 (Miss. 2004); *ABC Mfg. Corp. v. Doyle*, 749 So.2d 43, 45 (Miss. 2001).

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court's decision is based on an illogical and self-contradictory analysis which is wholly unsupported by Mississippi law. In fact, the lower court's decision is completely contradicted by Mississippi law. The Saving Statute has no application whatsoever to an original

¹¹ The memorandum opinion drafted by the Defendants was adopted verbatim by the lower court. However, since the standard of review is *de novo*, it is of no consequence who drafted the lower court's opinion other than to construe same against Defendants as the drafter.

¹² The lower court considered Defendants' motion to dismiss as a motion for summary judgment since it considered matters outside of the pleadings. (P.R.E. tab 2, R. at 179).

action; it is designed to allow a plaintiff to commence a second action after her original action is dismissed for a matter of form. In the present action, the lower court relied upon the Saving Statute to grant summary judgment against Plaintiffs' original action, which was undisputedly timely filed pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(2) and still pending at the time of the dismissal.

Further, the lower court was wrong when it concluded, without support, that the Saving Statute somehow governs the substitution of parties. Rule 25 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure governs the substitution of parties and requires parties be substituted within 90 days after death is suggested upon the record. In the present action, it is undisputed that Plaintiff's death was never suggested upon the record. If death is not suggested upon the record, the 90-day time period is irrelevant. The lower court also erroneously held, again without support, that a Rule 25 party substitution is the commencement of a new action - it is not - it is a continuation of the original action. Afterall, the commencement of an action is governed by Rule 3 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and, under Rule 15, an amended complaint naming the real party in interest relates back to the original filing date.

Finally, the lower court erroneously held that Plaintiffs' action was "dismissed by operation of law" at the instant of her death. Miss. Code Ann. §91-7-237 expressly states that Plaintiff's pending action, being a personal action, did not abate upon her death but rather survived to her estate. The Saving Statute has no application whatsoever to the survivability of an action after death, yet the lower court, again without support, held that it did.

The lower court somehow converted a remedial statute, designed to enlarge a plaintiff's rights, into a draconian statute which supersedes all other statutes of limitations, abolishes Rule 25 and the Survival Statutes thereby reinstating the ancient common law. The lower court's decision is overwhelmingly contradictory to current Mississippi law and must be reversed.

Defendants' motion actually asserted a Rule 17 objection to the real party in interest which was most from its inception since it was filed the same day Plaintiffs moved to substitute parties. The lower court failed to address Rule 17 in its decision or the fact that Defendants waived their objections by actively engaging in the litigation process for over five months after the alleged time-bar occurred. The lower court's decision is fraught with legal error and must be reversed.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The Mississippi Saving Statute is wholly inapplicable to this action.

The Mississippi Saving Statute has no application whatsoever to this action and the lower court's contrary decision is fundamentally flawed and wholly unsupported by, and contradicts, Mississippi law. The Saving Statute is inapplicable to this action because, by its plain meaning, it does not apply to original actions. *Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69*. It is <u>undisputed</u> that Plaintiff's original action was never dismissed by the lower court prior to the filing of Plaintiff's motion to substitute parties. (P.R.E. tab 3, R. at 175; tab 5, R. at 75). The lower court dismissed Plaintiffs' original action.

1. The Saving Statute does not apply to original actions.

The Saving Statute does not apply to original actions. The Saving Statute, provides, in full:

§15-1-69. Commencement of new action subsequent to abatement or defeat of original action.

If in any action, duly commenced within the time allowed, the writ shall be abated, or the action otherwise avoided or defeated, by the death of any party thereto, or for any matter of form, or if, after verdict for the plaintiff, the judgment shall be arrested, or if a judgment for the plaintiff shall be reversed on appeal, the plaintiff may commence a new action for the same cause, at any time within one year after the abatement or other determination of the original suit, or after reversal of the judgment therein, and his executor or administrator may, in case of the plaintiff's death, commence such new action, within the said one year.

Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69 (emphasis added). It is axiomatic that an unambiguous statute should be interpreted by its plain meaning. Finn v. State, 978 So.2d 1270 (Miss. 2008). The plain meaning of the Saving Statute is to allow a plaintiff to "commence a new action" subsequent to a "determination of the original suit" under circumstances set forth in the statute. Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69. Given the fundamental purpose of the Saving Statute, as indicated by its text, "there must be a final termination of the original action before a second action can be brought within the protection of the statute." 54 C.J.S. Limitations of Action §292. Notwithstanding the plain language and purpose of the Saving Statute, the lower court dismissed Plaintiff's original action which was commenced within the applicable statute of limitations. (P.R.E. tab 3, R. at 175; tab 5, R. at 75). 13

a. The Saving Statute presupposes that the original action was dismissed for a "matter of form."

The Saving Statute, by its plain meaning, presupposes that the original action has been "abated, or the action otherwise avoided or defeated, by the death of any party thereto, or for any matter of form" prior to the commencement of a new action. *Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-69.* In *Deposit Guaranty National Bank v. Roberts*, this Court held that the "saving statute applies to 'actions' and 'original suits' dismissed 'for any matter of form." *Deposit Guaranty National Bank v. Roberts*, 483 So.2d 348, 353 (Miss. 1986) (emphasis added). Indeed, the "saving" aspect of the Saving Statute is that it saves a plaintiff's second action from a statute of limitations bar if it is commenced within one year after dismissal of her original action for any matter of form, even if the second action is filed after the applicable statute of limitations has run against the cause of action. *Id.* Because the Saving Statute applies only to actions commenced subsequent

¹³ Plaintiffs' cause of action accrued on August 10, 2004, and her Complaint was filed on August 11, 2005. It is undisputed that the two-year statute of limitations of Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-36(2) governs this action. *Miss. Code Ann.* §15-1-36(2) and that Plaintiffs' action was timely filed. (P.R.E. tab 5, R. at 75).

to the dismissal of a prior action, the Saving Statute, by its plain meaning, does not apply to original actions.

In the recent case of *Crawford v. Morris Transportation, Inc.*, the plaintiff set forth the four elements required to invoke the protections of the Saving Statute, which this Court analyzed with no apparent disapproval. *Crawford v. Morris Transportation, Inc.*, 2008 WL 4072291, *5 (Miss. Sept. 4, 2008). As stated in *Crawford*, the four elements were: (1) a "duly commenced" action within the applicable statute of limitations, (2) good faith in filing the complaint, (3) a dismissal of that original suit for a matter of form, and (4) the commencement of a new action within one year of said dismissal. *Id.* The issue in *Crawford* then turned to whether or not the dismissal of the plaintiff's original action was for a "matter of form." *Id.*¹⁴ In the present case, however, there is no need to determine whether or not Plaintiff's original action was dismissed for a "matter of form," because Plaintiff's original action was never dismissed until it was dismissed for somehow not complying with the Saving Statute. (P.R.E. tab 1, R. at 1-5).

b. The death of a party in an action which survives is not a determination of the action.

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