IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NO. 2008-CA-00382

VERA HARRIS

Plaintiff/Appellant

VERSUS

VONDA G. REEVES-DARBY, M.D. AND GASTROINTESTINAL ASSOCIATES ENDOSCOPY CENTER, LLC D/B/A GI ASSOCIATES AND ENDOSCOPY CENTER

Defendants/Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLEES (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

Mildred M. Morris (Walter T. Johnson (Joseph G. Baladi (Robert H. Pedersen (Watkins & Eager PLLC 400 E. Capitol Street, Suite 300 Post Office Box 650 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 (601) 965-1900

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

These two changes to the 1857 Code deal with the death of the claimant before a civil action is filed and the death of a plaintiff after a civil action is filed and each statute establishes a limit on how long the administrator or executor have to act. The Legislature established a one year period for the executor or administrator to revive a survived action if the plaintiff dies while the action is pending (Section 15-1-69), and a one year period or the balance of the limitations period for the executor or administrator to commence a civil action when the person dies before a civil action is commenced (Section 15-1-55).

These two statutes also have a counterpart in one of the survival statutes. The one-year limitation in Section 15-1-55 applies to the revival of personal actions that survive under Section 91-7-233 because both statutes apply to the situation when a civil action has not been filed. The one-year limitations in Section 15-1-69 applies to the revival of personal actions that survive under Section 91-7-237 because both statutes apply to the situation when a civil action is pending.

In summary, the codification history of Section 15-1-69 and Section 15-1-55 demonstrate the Legislature established a time limit for the commencement of survived personal actions when the claimant dies before a civil action is filed and a time limit for the revival of civil actions when the plaintiff dies after commencement of a civil action.

Other Jurisdictions Have Time Limitations On Revival

Other jurisdictions' ruling are not binding on this Court but may be persuasive.

The Kentucky Court of Appeals in *Mitchell v. Money*, 602 S.W.2d 687, 688 (Ky. Ct. App. 1980) when ruling on a limitations similar to Section 15-1-69, held that " the limitation provided for within any revivor statute is mandatory and not discretionary, thereby preventing a party or the court from extending such time". The Kentucky Supreme Court in *Hammons v. Tremco*,

Inc., 887 S.W.2d 336 (Ky. 1994) held that the motion to substitute must be made during the period provided for in statute and, because it is statutory, is not subject to enlargement. Accord, Daniel v. Fourth & Market, Inc., 445 S.W.2d 699 (Ky. 1968) ("A personal representative does not automatically succeed to the decedent's rights and status as a litigant...but is permitted by the statutes to raise it from limbo and become a party" and this revival of the action is subject to the statutory limitation period not subject to enlargement).

The Nebraska Supreme Court in *Fox v. Nick*, 265 Neb. 986, 660 N.W. 2d 881, (2003) held that the death of a party to a legal proceeding suspends the action until someone is substituted for decedent and the substituted party is the revivor of the action and if the action is not revived in the manner and time provided by statute, then the action has no effect.

The Iowa Supreme Court in *Brown v. Roberts*, 205 N.W.2d 746 (Iowa 1973) applied a one year statute of limitations provided for in a statutory scheme for substituting the proper party and held that a failure to undertake proceedings to maintain the action within the time prescribed by statute is fatal and the suit is subject to dismissal.

The Missouri Court of Appeals in *Gardner v. Mercantile Bank of Memphis*, 764 S.W.2d 166 (Mo. Ct. App. 1989) held that a statute imposing a time restriction on the revival of an action is a statute of limitation and a motion to substitute 18 months after the first publication of letters of administration of the estate is time-barred.

The Oregon appellate court in *Mendez v. Walker*, 272 Ore. 602, 538 P.2d 939 (1975) held that when substituting a proposed plaintiff for the decedent in a case where death occurred before final judgment, the proposed plaintiff must comply with the statutes of limitations provided for in the statutory scheme for revival.

These ruling support the trial court's reading and application of Section 15-1-69.

Response to Appellant's Other Arguments on the Merits of the Trial Court's Ruling

The Medical Defendants respond to arguments Harris made that have not been addressed in the argument made above.

The one-year limitations in Section 15-1-69 serves the purpose of preventing situations such as occurred here. For reasons not explained in the record, Harris waited 17 months before having Ms. Green's Executrix appointed. During the time, no one had standing to prosecute Ms. Green's survived cause of action for medical negligence.

Harris misreads this Court's decisions applying the "matter of form" provision of Section 15-1-69. That part of Section 15-1-69 is not involved in this case.

The civil action that is revived by the decedent's executor or administrator, is a different action from the one initially brought by the decedent. The initial action was brought by the decedent. The revived action is brought by the executor or administrator. The original action was a common law tort action. The revived action is brought by operation of the survival statute. At common law, the survived action was brought as a separate new action. The revival procedure created by statute or court rule has replaced the need for a separate new action. The new survival action is now commenced by the filing of the Rule 25 motion to substitute.

Section 15-1-69 operates to grant the executor or administrator an additional year to revive the civil action that abated with the death of the plaintiff. The granting of the additional year fits within the remedial nature the Court has attributed to the statute.

The revivor function of a Rule 25(a)(1) motion to substitute is the equivalent of the commencement of the new survival action. M.R.C.P. 81(f).

The relate back rule of M.R.C.P 15(c) does not apply for two reasons. Rule 25(a)(1) is

the governing provision for substituting an executor or administrator for a deceased plaintiff. Harris did not amend the complaint so the relate back rule is not implicated here.

Harris' argument about the application of Section 91-7-237 confuses the survival of Ms. Green's cause of action for medical negligence with the revival of Ms. Green's civil action which abated when she died. The Medical Defendants acknowledge that Ms. Green's cause of action for medical negligence survived by operation of Section 91-7-237. The trial court's ruling acknowledges that Ms. Green's medical negligence cause of action survived by operation of Section 91-7-237. Harris' failure to timely revive Ms. Green's civil action is the reason the trial court dismissed the cause of action.

The trial court found that Harris did not do what Rule 25(a)(1) and Section 15-1-69 require to revive Ms. Green's civil action. Although Section 15-1-69 gave Harris a year to revive Ms. Green's civil action by filing a Rule 25 (a)(1) motion to substitute, she did not do so. She did not have the Executrix appointed and did not file a Rule 25(a)(1) motion until 17 months after Ms. Green's death. By that time, Harris' attempt to revive Ms. Green's civil action was time-barred.

Rule 25(a)(1) does not require that death be suggested on the record. The 90-day period that begins to run when death is suggested on the record does not replace or supercede the one year provided in Section 15-1-69 for reviving an action. The 90-day period in rule 25(a0(1)) and the one-year period in Section 15-1-69 have different purposes.

The 90-day period that begins to run after death is suggested on the record may be extended and modified by the court. M.R.C.P. 6(b). Its purpose is to ensure timely compliance with the Court's rules.

The one year period in Section 15-1-69 was set by the Legislature and cannot be changed by the court. Its purpose is to ensure timely revival of an action abated by the death of the plaintiff. Timely revival of the civil action ensures the party prosecuting the action has standing to do so. An action prosecuted by a person without standing is a nullity and has no *res judicata* effect. *See, Tolliver ex rel. Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Green v. Mladineo*, 987 So.2d 989, 995 (¶ 36) (Miss .App. 2007). ("This lack of standing " 'robs the court of jurisdiction to hear the case.' " . . . [and] any ruling on such a case is void ab initio.").

M.R.C.P. 17 does not apply. Rule 25(a)(1) governs substitution for a deceased party. Rule 25 deals with the situation when there is no party because of death. This is not a case where the real party is missing from the civil action. Rule 17 deals with the situation when there is a party who is not the real party in interest. Even if Rule 17 were the correct procedural vehicle for reviving Ms. Green's civil action, Rule 17's procedure would still have to be applied in the context of Section 15-1-69 because Rule 17 does not supercede Section 15-1-69. The trial court dismissed the claim because the substitution was not made within the one year period prescribed by Section 15-1-69. Even if the substitution should have occurred under Rule 17, as Harris's argument assumes, the attempt to substitute is time-barred because it is attempted after the oneyear period set in Section 15-1-69.

Methodist Hospital v. Richardson, 909 So.2d 1066 (Miss. 2005)(Richardson II) is distinguishable and does not control this case. That action began as a wrongful death claim brought by Linda Richardson on behalf of all wrongful death beneficiaries. That case did not involve revival of a civil action after the death of the plaintiff. Section 15-1-69 was not involved in that case. Rule 25(a)(1) was not involved in that case.

Richardson II began as a wrongful death action filed by a wrongful death beneficiary which made wrongful death claims and survival claims. As interpreted by the Court, the Wrongful Death Statute permits the wrongful death beneficiary to make both types of claims. Long v. McKinney, 897 So.2d 160, 174 (¶57)(Miss. 2004). On the first appeal, the wrongful death claims were dismissed. The case was remanded for further proceedings. Upon remand, the trial court dismissed the wrongful death claims leaving only the survival claims. The wrongful death beneficiary then opened an estate and moved to file an amended complaint which added the administrator and alleged the survival claims. The Court held that under Rule 17 the administrator of the estate was correctly substituted because the administrator was the real party in interest and the wrongful death beneficiaries could not advance survival claims unless without wrongful death claims. This is a good example of how Rule 17 works. When the civil action was filed, the Wrongful Death Statute gave the wrongful death beneficiary the right to assert wrongful death claims and survival claims. After the wrongful death claims were dismissed, the wrongful death beneficiary no longer could pursue the survival claim and the administrator of the estate became the real party in interest. Therefore, substitution under Rule 17 was appropriate.

Richardson II had a plaintiff still in the case; it just was not the plaintiff who had the real interest in pursuing the survival claim. In this case, there was no plaintiff because Ms. Green had died. Rule 17 applies best to the facts in Richardson. Rule 25 fits best with the facts in this case. But regardless of which rule is used, Section 15-1-69 still applies. No motion to substitute under Rule 17 or under Rule 25 was made within the one year period so any attempt to substitute is time barred.

Necaise v. Sacks, 841 So.2d 1098 (Miss. 2003) is also distinguishable and not controlling. After Plaintiff Freeman died, Ms. Necaise was appointed Executrix, Ms. Necaise did file a Rule

25 motion to substitute which the trial court granted and Ms. Necaise did file a motion to file an amended complaint which the trial court granted. All of these proceedings occurred within one year of Plaintiff Freeman's death. The Court based its ruling on Richardson II. As shown above, Richardson II does not control this litigation.

Response to Harris' Waiver Argument

Harris did not argue to the trial court that the Medical Defendants "(1) failed to raise the affirmative defense in its statute of limitations in its Answer and (2) actively and extensively participated in the litigation process of this action for over 5 months after the alleged time-bar occurred." (R. 71-74, 92-96, 164-166). The Court usually does "not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal." *Jones v. Fluor Daniel Servs. Corp.*, 959 So.2d 1044, 1048 (¶15) (Miss. 2007). The Court has also held that "[f]ailure to raise an issue in a trial court causes operation of a procedural bar on appeal." *Birrages v. Illinois Central R.R.*, 950 So.2d 188, 194 (¶18) (Miss. App. 2006). And, "this Court has stated, time and again, an issue not raised before the lower court is deemed waived and is procedurally barred." *Gale v. Thomas*, 759 So.2d 1150, 1159 (¶ 40) (Miss. 1999). For these reasons, the Court should decline to consider Harris' waiver issues.

Alternatively, Medical Defendants respond to both of Harris' waiver arguments.

Harris is wrong when she argues the Medial Defendants waived raising the one-year limitations period in Section 15-1-69 because they did not assert it in their answer. Obviously, at the time Medical Defendants filed their answer on October 5, 2005, they did not know Ms. Green was going to die on February 9, 2006, and they did not know Harris would wait 17 months before having the Executrix appointed and before seeking to have the civil action revived by the filing of a Rule 25 motion. If Medical Defendants had this knowledge, they would have affirmatively plead that the attempt to revive Ms. Green's civil action was time-barred by Section

15-1-69. Medical Defendants must plead only those affirmative defenses about which it knows or should know. A waiver requires that the party know what is being waived. *Channel v. Loyacono*, 954 So.2d 415, 425 (¶ 36)(Miss. 2007)("Waiver is voluntary surrender or relinquishment of some known right, benefit or advantage; estoppel is the inhibition to assert it.")(quoting *Sentinel Indus. Contracting Corp. v. Kimmins Indus. Serv. Corp.*, 743 So.2d 954, 964 (Miss.1999)).

Harris has not shown that the Medical Defendants could have known that she would not timely revive Ms. Green's civil action so Medical Defendants have not waived their right to raise the untimeliness under Section 15-1-69 of Harris's motion to substitute.

Medical Defendants raised the limitations issue in its motion. This Court has held a statute of limitations can be raised for the first time at summary judgment if sufficient time is given to the plaintiff to respond. Bennett v. Madakasira, 821 So.2d 794, 802 (¶¶ 29, 30)(Miss. 2002). Harris does not allege that she did not have time to respond to the motion to dismiss.

The Medical Defendants participation in the litigation does not constitute a waiver of their right to affirmatively assert that Harris is time-barred by Section 15-1-69 from having the Executrix substituted as plaintiff.

A defendant must assert affirmative defenses "[i]n a pleading to a preceding pleading" M.R.C.P. 8(c). When the Medical Defendants prepared and filed their answer in October, 2005, Ms. Green was still alive and there was no basis for affirmatively pleading a limitations defense based on Section 15-1-69. After Ms. Green's death, plaintiff filed no pleading to which Medical Defendants were required to respond until Harris filed the motion to substitute on July 20, 2007, and on that same date Medical Defendants filed their motion to dismiss and raised the limitations defense. In *Chimento v. Fuller*, 965 So.2d 668, 677 (¶ 36)(Miss. 2007), the Court

distinguished that case from *MS Credit Center*, *Inc. v. Horton*, 926 So.2d 167, 180 (Miss.2006) and held there was no waiver of the statute of limitations defense because the plaintiff had not filed a pleading to which defendant had to respond.

Horton is distinguishable from the facts of this case. In Horton, the plaintiff filed a complaint and the defendants had an opportunity to respond by filing an answer and affirmative defenses. Id. See E. Miss. State Hosp. v. Adams, 947 So.2d 887, 891 (Miss.2007) (Defendants had the opportunity to answer and assert defenses to plaintiff's complaint and participated in litigation, but waited more than two years to bring the motion to dismiss). Here, Mills filed no pleadings with the chancery court to which Chimento could respond until more than ten months after the trial.

Chimento v. Fuller, 965 So.2d at 677.

For the foregoing reasons, Harris' waiver arguments have no merit.

CONCLUSION

The trial court correctly held that Harris was time-barred by Section 15-1-69 from

substituting executrix as the plaintiff and reviving Ms. Green's claim because Harris had waited

more than one year to do so.

The Medical defendants did not waive their right to assert the limitations period in

Section 15-1-69.

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